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	Town/City:  
Georgetown

	Place: (neighborhood or village):



Town Center




	Address: 
30 East Main Street

	Historic Name:
George J. & Susan M. Tenney House

	Uses:
Present: 
multiple condominium residence

	Original: 
single residence

	Date of Construction:  1886

	Source:  
local history, maps

	Style/Form:   
Queen Anne

	Architect/Builder:  
unknown

	Exterior Material:

	Foundation:  
brick, stone

	Wall/Trim:  
wood clapboards; wood shingles

	Roof:  
asphalt shingles

	Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  


Carriage house

	Major Alterations (with dates):  


Shed dormers added

Converted to apartments


	Condition:  
good

	Moved:  no  FORMCHECKBOX 
 
yes  FORMCHECKBOX 
     Date:


	Acreage:  0.60

	Setting:   This house is sited on the north side of East Main Street on a lot with mature trees. The area is a mix of residential, commercial, and institutional uses.


 FORMCHECKBOX 
 Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  


If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION   

The George J. & Susan M. Tenney House is a two-story wood frame single dwelling (now multiple) located at the southeast corner of East Main and Park streets.  The Queen Anne-style house, built in 1886, had a hipped roof that was distinguished on the front with a long sloping section that extended to the first story and covered the porch at the entrance, with a gable dormer centered in the second story, and cross gable pavilions on the front (southwest) and northwest side.  The architectural distinction of the roof has been compromised by the addition of large shed dormers on the front and sides to create apartment living spaces in the attic.  Aside from the roof alterations, the varied and elaborate fenestration has remained intact.  The front entrance is tucked under a porch with turned posts and balustrades, scrolled brackets, and a paneled frieze surmounted by an arched fan pediment.  The porch is offset by an ornate pavilion with a tripartite window in the first story, a second-story oriel containing a tripartite window and a pedimented dormer ay the roof level.  Characteristic of the style, the first story is sided with wood clapboards and the second story with wood shingles.  The added dormers have been sided with wood shingles and their roof edges distinguished by a scalloped frieze.

The northerly side of the house is defined by the roof raking down to the first story on the west side, a tall half-story window designating the location of an interior stair landing,  and a two-story bay window with beveled corners topped by a pediment mounted on shingled braces.  The raking edge of the roof carries a heavy molded cornice, and it is clipped at the top to form the hip.  A two-story rear service ell is in line with the house’s end wall, and there are additions on the easterly end.  New doors have been added to the side wall as independent entrances to interior apartments.  
A two-story, wood frame, hipped roof carriage barn with a central pavilion on its principal northeasterly façade is sited at the rear of the house.  The building has been converted into living units, which has removed its exterior barn features (carriage doors, stable windows, mow door, etc.) and added domestic doors and fenestration. 

The house occupies the southwestern corner of a large corner lot, with the balance of the property covered with lawn and a large parking lot.  The space has been denuded of all 19th-century landscape features.  
The George J. & Susan M. Tenney House, built 1886, is a distinctive example of a large house designed in the Queen Anne style that appears to be rare in Georgetown.  The design house has been seriously compromised by additions and alterations made when converting the house to apartments.  While not individually eligible for the National Register for reason of these alterations, the building is an important historic and architectural landmark in the town center and a contributing component of the village district.     
HISTORICAL NARRATIVE    
The house at 30 East Main Street is at least the third dwelling to stand on this site. An 1865 photograph shows a frame building on the site, and another taken between 1875 and 1885 captures part of a brick dwelling that burned, along with the boot and shoe factory just north of it at the corner of East Main and Park Street, on Christmas night in the latter year.
 All three houses and the adjacent factory were owned by George Jewett Tenney (1805-96), one of Georgetown’s preeminent boot and shoe manufacturers. 
Born in Rowley, George J. Tenney was the second of six children of Amos Jewett Tenney (1777-1840) and his wife Lucy Spofford (1780-1833). Descended from Thomas Tenney, one of the party who came with Rev. Ezekial Rogers to settle Rowley in 1638, Amos J. Tenney and his father Richard began making “the regular Georgetown heavy boot and brogan” at their home on Tenney Street in 1811, a year after the Newbury brothers Benjamin and Joseph Little began the manufacture of footwear on a large scale in the town. George J. Tenney followed the family trade, and his career spanned the growth of the region’s shoe industry from home to factory manufacture, as one biographical account illustrates:
Having acquired a limited education in the common schools, George J. Tenney at an early age engaged in shoemaking. After a time, ambitious to advance, he began to manufacture ordinary footwear on a limited scale for the retail trade. This was when all the work was done by hand. When he had finished a sufficient quantity to make a team load, it was his custom to drive to Boston, sell his goods, and, when returning, to stop at Salem and purchase supplies. Having begun in this modest way, by rigid economy and steady application to business he became the most extensive manufacturer of boots and shoes in Georgetown. Several large factories erected by him were devoted chiefly to the production of men’s heavy footwear, which previous to the Civil War was sold mostly in the Southern States. These goods were later shipped direct to his agents, Gerney & Co., of St. Joseph, Mo., who in turn sent them further West by ox team. Boots of his make were the first kind to arrive in Denver, Col., after its settlement. He also shipped considerable heavy footwear, packed in hogsheads, to the West Indies.

By 1860 George J. Tenney was the largest of Georgetown’s fourteen footwear manufacturers. He had $30,000 in capital invested in the business, as much as his nearest competitor, Little and Moulton, but he employed more people—eighty men and forty women—and made more footwear valued higher than any other boot and shoe producer in town. Tenney made18,000 pairs of boots (Little and Moulton made 20,000 pair) and 65,000 pairs of shoes valued together at $94,500; Little and Moulton’s product was valued at $90,000 in 1860. By 1870 Tenney was still the largest manufacturer of boots and shoes in towns in terms of the number of people he employed—110, only ten of them women—and the value of his product--$166,158 worth of footwear. His factory edged out Little and Moulton by $317 in value of product even as the Little and Moulton factory made more pairs of boots and shoes. While the value of his factory production increased by more than 75 percent between 1860 and 1870, Tenney’s personal wealth, at least according to the census, declined over this decade from $48,000 to $39,000. He and his older brother Charles Spofford Tenney had been founders, directors, and major investors—one account called George Tenney “the Ajax of the concern”—in what became the Newburyport Railroad Company, charter, which inaugurated rail service to Georgetown in May 1850. Initially called the Danvers and Georgetown Railroad, the line became part of the larger Newburyport system in the mid-1850s, and as the largest investor George J. Tenney became liable more than half of its debt, which must have affected his personal wealth over the long term.

In 1836 Tenney married Susan Nelson, the daughter of Lieutenant Jonathan Nelson and his wife Hannah March (his brother Charles, for a time superintendent of the Newburyport and the Danvers and Georgetown Railroads, married Susan’s sister Elizabeth).  The couple had two children, Milton Granville Tenney, born in 1837, and Lucy Spofford Tenney, born in 1838. Before the Civil War the family lived on Elm Street with Tenney’s stepmother (also his aunt) Apphia Spofford Tenney and four boarders, two of them shoe industry workers. By 1860 the family appears to have moved to 30 East Main Street, and they were certainly in the frame house on this site in 1870, when George and Susan Tenney may have lived in the house with only a domestic servant; the census next enumerated the family of their son Milton, who had worked with his father as George J. Tenney and Son since at least 1860, and he may have shared the house with his parents.

The 1872 map of the village shows Tenney’s shoe factory at the corner of Park and East Main Street with his house next east. No barn, stable, or other outbuilding is shown on his property, though there must have been one, for it was there, on 26 October 1874, that a fire began that destroyed vast sections of Georgetown’s commercial center. The Masonic Hall, stables, and untold numbers of stores, factories, and homes, including Tenney’s, were destroyed. Losses were estimated at $100,000. By 1875 Tenney had rebuilt both the factory and the adjacent house of brick, but both buildings were again destroyed in a fire on 25 December 1885. Local historian Henry M. Nelson wrote three years later, “The fine brick residence of G. J. Tenney went in a moment, after the burning of the Main Street business block, which had the Banks, National and Savings, Post Office, law office of W. A. Butler and boot and shoe factories of A. B. Noyes and G. J. Tenney. Steam power, supplying the Brewster block on the rear, was also destroyed.”

A bird’s-eye view of Georgetown published in 1887, less than two years after the fire, depicts the large house that now stands at 30 East Main Street but nothing on the corner part of the lot that Tenney’s boot and shoe factory had long occupied. George Jewett and Susan Nelson Tenney lived at 30 East Main Street until they died, he in 1897 and she in 1898, and his son Milton and his family apparently lived there afterwards; Milton Tenney continued his father’s boot and shoe factory in a building at 7 Park Street. He died in 1910, and his children and heirs sold 30 East Main Street in August 1919 to Grace Elizabeth Marston.
 Born Grace Elizabeth Town in Essex, she married shoe manufacturer Moses P. Marston in Haverhill in 1901; her father-in-law, Charles Sumner Marston, was a native of Essex and a Haverhill shoe manufacturer. Marston’s sons Moses, born in 1879, and Charles S. Jr., born in 1884, both worked for him, and by the mid-1910s Moses worked as superintendent of the factory, now owned by his brother. 
Moses and Grace E. Marston moved to Georgetown after acquiring 30 East Main Street, and the 1920 census shows the couple in the house with their children Gordon, Albert, Paul, Charles, Nancy, and John; Gordon and Albert were eighteen and seventeen years old, respectively, and worked as shoe shop operatives. In 1930 the house was occupied by Moses, Grace, their son Charles, a florist; their teenaged son John; their married daughter Nancy; and her husband Alfred C. Richardson, who ran a “battery shop.” 
In November 1930 Grace E. Marston died at the age of forty-nine, and in 1932 Moses, Charles, and John S. Marston were still living at 30 East Main and were working for Charles S. Marston Jr., who by then was manufacturing shoe skates in the Park Street factory in Georgetown. Russian-born physician Abraham Servetnick used part of the house for his practice through at least 1940, when Moses Marston and his son John occupied the rest of the house with a domestic servant and three roomers.

In 1952, Moses P. Marston conveyed the 30 East Main Street property to Alfred E. and Josephine H. Tidd and moved to Park Terrace in Georgetown. The Tidds converted 30 East Main Street into eight apartments by 1957, and in 1980 they sold the property to current owners William P. and Olive N. Ingraham, who converted the building into twelve condominiums.
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Historic view of 30 East Main St. From Anthony Mitchell Sammarco, for Georgetown Historical Society, Images of America: Georgetown (Portsmouth, NH: Arcadia Publishing, 2002.), 114.
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30 East Main Street: view from S

[image: image5.jpg]



Views from NW (top) and SW (bottom)
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                   Statement of Significance by________Neil Larson_________________________________

                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
The George J. & Susan M. Tenney House, built 1886, is a distinctive example of a large house designed in the Queen Anne style that appears to be rare in Georgetown.  The design house has been seriously compromised by additions and alterations made when converting the house to apartments.  While not individually eligible for the National Register for reason of these alterations, the building is an important historic and architectural landmark in the town center and a contributing component of the village district.     
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� George B. Tenney, Boston; Robert M. Tenney, Cambridge; Susan T. Chaplin, and Charles M. Falconer, to Grace Elizabeth Marston, 22 August 1919, SED 2422:571.





� Gordon L. Marston, Albert O. Marston, Charles T. Marston, John S. Marston, all Georgetown, and Nancy Richardson, Haverhill, to Moses P. Marston, February 1939, SED 3186:110; Moses P. Marston, widower, to Alfred E. and Josephine H. Tidd, 29 November 1952, SED 3951:561; Alfred E. and Josephine H. Tidd, 85 Central St, to Ingrahams, 52 E Main, 2 April 1980, SED 6691:14.
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